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Horatio M. Warden 

Historic structures are calling cards that invite learning more not only about the building or home, 
but also the builder and occupants. As magnificent as Mount Vernon reflects a bygone era, the 
residents are even more interesting. Simply having George Washington sleep somewhere…let 
alone in his home…is an occasion of historical interest. 

Locally, the two Warden Buildings attract many admirers, but, more importantly, the essential 
question is who was the builder?  Just what happened in time to cause one man to envision two of 
the most notable buildings in the city?  

Here’s the story. 

Horatio Moore Warden left life in San Luis Obispo just over 100 years ago but began his journey 
here in 1828 in Ohio, born into a large family (one account says 11 and another 13) of “old colonial 
stock of high rank.” Possibly tales of ancestral heroics (his father was a captain in the War of 1812) 
captured the young man’s imagination as at 19, he and his older brother, Lew, sought their own 
fortunes providing cattle to the burgeoning Chicago market. It was not to be their first venture into 
the world of commerce and both leaned success in more than ambition. Within a few years, the 
brothers were in Placerville undoubtedly lured by the fantastic tales of riches available to the 
enterprising in the golden soil of California. 

Unlike many others when the lure of Midas eluded them, they remained in the Golden State and 
established a stage line from Sacramento (not yet the State capitol) to stops in the gold fields named 
Yankee Jim’s, Illinois Town, Michigan Bluff and Iowa Hill. About a decade later, the brothers 
went in opposite directions with Horatio heading south. “Struggles for a competency during the 
early manhood” of the young men would continue to pay handsome dividends. 

Purchasing considerable acreage in Los Osos in the late 1860s, the Highland Ranch still is family 
owned property. It was not Horatio’s last investment, but, at last, he had found a new – and 
permanent - home.  

The ranch became another successful business being praised for its thoroughbred stock. By then, 
Horatio certainly understood it took hard work, common sense and some luck to succeed. 
However, he also understood a less rigorous pursuit of wealth was promised by using other’s 
capital. To that end in 1872 with the help of the equally enterprising Chauncey H. Phillips, the 
Bank of Warden and Phillips opened its doors. It was the first in the county. Continued success 
led to incorporation as the Bank of San Luis Obispo and a building on the corner of Monterey and 
Court Streets. 

Horatio did not ignore a personal life as he pursued various commercial enterprises. In 1856, while 
farming in Napa County, he married Maria Mercedes Villigran. There were no children and she 
died in 1881. His second marriage proved quite different. 

Queenie Parr was 19 when she married Horatio on November 30, 1882. They had three children: 
Queenie, Horatio, Jr., and Mary Loraine, who died on March 17, 1902. An equally enterprising 
personality, Queenie is detailed in last January’s edition of Journal Plus.  

 



Who knows what energized the near 70 year old rancher/banker to venture into the construction 
business? In March 1897, a notice appeared in the Tribune offering to sell his buildings occupying 
98 feet facing Higuera Street. The ground was to be cleared by May 15 to allow for the building 
of an “elegant brick building” according to Warden. “Distinctively modern, very handsome and 
elegant,” commented the newspaper. Equally important, the new addition was viewed as another 
“step forward” in the city’s progress. Plans detailed a two-story structure with four stores on the 
bottom floor and the second for “well-ventilated” offices. The architect chosen was W. C. Phillips 
of Arroyo Grande. A local contractor, Thomas Reed, and sub-contractors were also local residents. 
Cost was not to exceed $12,400. 

The Tribune provided extensive details about the largest business building yet erected in town 
using local rock with cornices of corrugated iron and a vestibule entrance ending beneath a skylight 
measuring 360 square feet. The ornamentation was specially designed with iron work provided by 
the newly formed Judson Manufacturing Company of San Francisco.    “Sanitary facilities” on 
each floor included marble sinks in each suite. The entire building was wired for gas and electricity. 

Having such a grand building simply led to the construction of an even more imposing one. 
           
Five years later, local architect H. S. Laird prepared plans for another Warden building for a 70x90 
foot lot on the corner of Higuera and Chorro Streets. The New Warden Block was hailed by the 
press as the “largest, most elegant building between San Francisco and Los Angeles.” Perched 
above the building was a four faced Seth Thomas clock…readily visible from anyplace in the 
downtown area. 

Known in more contemporary times as the Tower Building, the imposing edifice opened in 1903. 
Built to last, the major construction materials were stone, brick, terra cotta and steel. The ground 
floor provided six rooms for stores or offices – all with the necessary “conveniences.”   On the 
second floor, seven suites were accessible from a central entrance with a large skylight providing 
for illumination.  The exposed yellow brick exterior contrasted with an interior of wood and 
plaster. 

Sadly, fear of earthquakes that had wreaked havoc in Santa Barbara a few years previous resulted 
in the tower and much of the exterior ornamentation being removed in the 1930s. No longer 
qualifying for its name, it became the Horatio M. Warden, Jr. building so as not to confuse it with 
the original structure. 

Warden with his “shrew business ability” did not have long to enjoy his new building as well as a 
community landmark as he died on February 14, 1912.  At 84, he had grown progressively weaker 
and bed-ridden. Described as having an “active, upright, and honorable life,” one “filled with good 
deeds,” Horatio was laid to rest in the family plot. Another enduring memorial stands today as 
hundreds of thousands have passed the future he envisioned in the buildings he built. 

The two Warden buildings and the Queenie Warden Bridge across the San Luis Creek are 
prominent landmarks in the “sense of place” that is essential for any community to thrive. 
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